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By the judgment of the Supreme Court of QUeensland 

(Mansfield J.), against which this appeal is brought, it was 

declared that the plaintiffs, who are the respondents to the 

appeal, were entitled to receive one half of the net profits 

from the manufacture and sale of canned meat products packed by 

the defendant between 9th August 1939 and 9th August 1944. It 

was ordered that an account be taken of such profits, and a 

separate account was ordered to be taken of the profits derived 

from the business carried on by the defendant between the dates 

mentioned at Finnie. 

The plaintiffs and F.T. Grove (of whom the 

plaintiff Mrs. Grove is the legal personal representative) had 

been associated as shareholders in companies which had conducted 

an unsuccessful meat preserving enterprise on leased land at 

F'innie, near Toowoomba. The defendant carried on in Sr.:mth 

Brisbane a cheese manufacturing business under the registered 
Beforhe 1 t3~ 

name of Maxam Cheese Products Pty ./ he· ad uau no experience in 

the business of meat preserving. By an undated indenture which 

was executed on or about 9th August 1939 the plaintiffs (called 

11 the Syndicate 11 ) agreed to.permit the defendant O.K. McAnulty 

(called 11 the manufacturerH) to occupy the works at Finnie, he 

paying a rent of £300 per annum. The indenture refers to the 

four first named plaintiffs/a~~T. Grove, t.ogether with A. C. V. 

Bligh and J .J. Bloomer, as the lessees of the premises. But Bligh 

and Bloomer did not execute the deed, and the leases which the 

other plaintiffs held during the currency of the agreement were 

in fact made on 29th September 1939 and 25th November 1939 for 

periods of five years from 9th August 1939 with rights of renewal 

for five years. 
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2. 

By the indenture the defendant agreed that he 

would faithfully work, carry on and conduct a meat preserving and 

canning business "or any other allied industry" in on or about the 

premises and that he would employ therein the plant, machinery, 

slaughterhouses etc. as he might consider necessary with any 

additional plant or machinery as he might deem advisable. 

Clause 1 of the agreement provided that in the 

working and carrying on of the business McAnulty should be free 

from any interference whatsoever by the syndicate save and except 

as thereinaft·er provided. The plaintiffs provided £700 (clause 2) 

and McAnulty £150 (clause 8A) for the purpose of carrying on the 

business. Proper accounts were to be kept by the manufacturer 

(clause 3) and h~~ was to render half yearly accounts to the 

syndicate. The profits were to be divided, one half to the 
and losses were to be borne as provided i~ 

syndicate and one half to the manufacturer /clause 4 • Clause 8 

limited the liability of the syndicate for losses to the amount of 
by the syndicate 

£700 paid/to the manufacturer. The agreement further provided 

(clause 5) that the manufacturer should be absolutely untrammelled 

in the work of production, sales, marketing and distribution of the 

products of the business, and that he should be empowered to sell 

to himself the products of the business and to conduct the business 

as if it were his own sole business, provided that he paid for such 

products at the prices then current in Brisbane as ona cash basis. 

The term of the agreement was five years (clause 9) but the 

manufacturer was at liberty to cancel and determine it at any time 

on one month's notice (clause 6}. There were provisions as to 

disposition of the goodwill (clause 7) and as to a final settlement 

of accounts at the end of the period of the agreement (clause 8). 

Clause 10 provided that the manufacturer might appoint any 

substitutes to carry out the agreement, that he should not be 

bound personally to render any services, and that he might "even 

refrain from working the said business at such periods as he shall 

consider proper 11 • Clause 12 contained a covenant by the syndicate 

(but I 



(but not by the manufacturer) not to enter into competitbn with 

11 the said business of the manufa.cturern during the continuance of 

the indenture. 

Immediately after the execution of the agreement, the 

defendant began to conduct a meat preserving business at the Finnie 

works, turning out minced beef products, and he continued the 

operation of the works to November 1939. The works were then 

closed down, but they were re-opened for working during the period 

March to :May 1940. Otherwise the works at Finnie were not used by 

the defendant during the five year term of the agreement. He did 

not use his right to cancel the agreement under clause 6. He 

continued to pay, during the five year period, the rent of £300 per 
the 

annum for which/agreement provided. 

In 1941 he erected works of his own in Stanley Street, 

South Brisbane, where he manufactured large quantities of canned meat 

products to carry out defence. contracts, and made substantial profits. 

He had registered two names under the Registration of Firms .~ct 1942-

Maxam Cheese Products Pty. and Preserved Food Products Pty. In each 

case he was described in the certificate of registration as the only 

member of the "firm11 • 

In August 1942 the plaintiffs made some obj actions to 

the accounts rendered by McAnulty, and in November 1942 the writ in 

this action was issued. In the statement of claim delivered on 5th 

March 1943 the claims were for accounts of the business carried on at 

Finnie, for breach of contract in ceasing to carry on this business, 

and for the return of certain machinery removed from Finni•?. or 

damages for conversion and detention thereof. It has not been 

suggated that the plaintiffs were not aware of the defendant's 

operations in South Brisbane. The plaintiff Paterson occasionally 

visi·~ed the defendan:t's' works. No claim that the plaintiffs had 

any rights in connection with those operations or with the defence 

contracts mentioned was made until the statement of claim was 

amended on 27th June 1944. 

The plaintiffs contended, first, that the indenture 

created a partnership between them and the defendant and that the 

defendant's business in South Brisbane was part of the partnership 
business, so that the defendant was bound to account as a partn!Br I 



4. 

for all the profits derived from that business. The learned trial 

judge rejected this contention, but the plaintiffs have renewed it 

upon the appeal to this court. 

In the alternative the plaintiffs claimed that the 

indenture established a fidicuary relationship between them and the 

defendant of such a character that he was bound to account to the 

plaintiffs for a.ny benefi·ts received by him by reason of the 

connection which he had obtained with the Finnie works by virtue 

of the indenture. This claim succeeded, the learned judge holding 

that the connection of' the defendant with the Finnie works enabled 

him to obtain the defence contracts out of which profits were made 

at th~ Brisbane works. His Honour held that, while the defendant 

was entitled to refrain from carrying on business at Fim1ie, he 

could not so refrain and at the same time carry on elsewhere a 

business which undel' the indenture he was under a duty to carry on 

for the benefit of the plaintiffs - except upon the basis of treating 

the business so carried on as subject to the terrr~ of the agreement, 

so that the plaintiffs became entitled to half the profits of that 

businesso 

The plaintiffs made a further alternative claim for 

breach of contract. The alleged breach was in substance that the 

defendant failed to open and conduct the Finnieworks when it was 

possible to do so. The view taken by the learned judge of the 

fiduciary character of the agreement, involving an obligation on the 

part of the defendant to acc.ount for profits, mane it unnecessary 

for him to consider the claim for breach of contract. The plaintiffs 

have again raised this claim as an alternative before this court. 

On the question of partnership the appellant supports 

and the respondent challenges ~he decision of the Supreme Court. 

The determination of the question of partnership or no partnership 

depends entirely up¢ the terms of the indenture, because it was not 

suggested that any other agreement (express or implied) was ma.deo 

The I 



The appellant contends that it was wrongly decided 

that a fiduciary relationship was established by the indenture. He 

concedes that he may have been a trustee of the £?00 subscribed by 

the plaintiffs towards the enterprise, but it is not alleged that he 

did not apply this sum as required by the agreement. As to other 

matters, the defendant says that the terms of the agreement expressly 

allowed him to open or close the works at Finnie as he should 

determine - the plaintiffs by the agreement left the decision on 

this matter to him. He points out that the agreement required him 

to find £150 towards the venture, but that it did not bind him to 

provide any further money. He .spent some £3000 in buying land for 

his South Brisbane works and £89,000 in building the works and 

purchasing and installing the plant in the works. He has been 

ordered to account for all the profits from this business, though 

he agreed only to conduct a small business at Finnie with existing 

plant (worth, according to him, about f2000,or about £?000 including 
to 

land and buildings) and such other plant as he might voluntarily choosE)~ 

add to it. The Finnie works were equipped only to produce minced 

meat in various forms - camp pie, minced luncheon beef, minced corn 

beef and beef galantine - but not solid meat, or sausages or meat 

and vegetable rations. It is not disputed that the only profitable 

avenue of disposal of mince9 beef was to be found in Great Britain. 

l<"'or 29 months of the 5 years period the import of minced meat into 
.. minced beef, 

Great Britain was prohibited. The defendant made profits out of/meat 

and vegetable rations, out of various forms of preserved solid (not 

minced) meat,and out of canned sausages. The .Finnie works were not 
(except minced beef) 

able to produce any of these articles/without large expenditure, 

which he was under no obligation to make. He was entitled under the 

agreement to refrain from working the business at Finnie during any 

period that he thought proper. Fir1a.lly, the defendant calls attention 

to the clau9e in the indenture expressly prohibiting the plaintiffs 

from competing with the Finnie business and to the absence of any 

corresponding provision applying to himself. 
As I 
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As to the alleged breach of contract, the defendant 

denies any breach, contending that he was not bound to operate the 

Finnie works at all, and that, if there was some obligation to 

operate them, that obligation was subject to its being a commercial 

proposition to use the works, and it never was a commercial 

proposition to do so. during the period o~ closure of the works. 

No questionnow arises as to a claim of the plaintiffs 

based on removal of certain plant from Finnie, but there are 

·controversies between the parties as to matters of acco·unt in 

connection with the business which was actually carried on at Finnie. 

The first question to be determined is whether the 

indenture created the relation of partnership between the plaintiffs 

and the defendant. Whether there is a partnership or not depends 

upon the intention of the parties as disclosed by their agreement .. 

upon "the real nature of the agreement into which they have entered"• 

WaJ...k~r v. HipW"!, 27 Ch.D., 460 at p. 474. It is plain that this 

is not a case in which it can be contended that the defendant became 

the servant of the plaintiffs. 

The interest of the plaintiffs in the leased land and 

in the plant did not become partnership property. It is clear that 

the defendant did not become a co-lessee with the plaintiffs of 

land or acquire any rights as to the plant as against the 

owners of the land and plant.. If the agreernent had been determined 

there could not have been a sale of any such rights as partnership 

These assets were plainlynot partnership property. 

There may neverth~less have been apartnership in the 

''Partnership is. the relation which subsists between 

partners carrying on a busj.nass in common with a view of profittt: 

Partnership Act 1891 (QUeensland}, sec. 5'. The receipt by a person 

a share of the profits of a business is prima facie evidence that 

he is a partner in the business: sec. 6(3). The agreement between 

parties provides in.cla.use4 that after repayment ofadvances 

int.erest the balance of the net profits shall be divided equally 

between I 
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between t,hc.; syndicate and the manufacturer. Accordingly there is 

:prima fae:i.e evidence of a partnership between the parties in the 

business whj .. ch was to be carried on in pursuance of the 

But, further, clause 4 also provides that losses shall be 

payable "{a) out of the moneys advanced by th<? syndicate (that is 

the £700 alreaoy mentioned); (b) and in the :next p18ce one half 

by the syndicRte and one haJf by the rr:.atmfacturer 11 ; but with a 

provision in clause 8 that in no case will the. syndicate bf) 

fina.11y liable for any loss that ms.y exceed the said amount of £700 

Thus there is an agreement between the parties to share both 

profits and losses. The recognised legal principle is stated in 

Li.:ndley on Partnership, 9th Edn., p. 49, in the following words:­

"Whatever di:fference of opinion there may be as other matters, 

persons engaged in any trade., business, or adventure upon the 

ternm of sharing the profits ~ lW-king good all losses arising 

thE-:re.f'rom, a:re necessarily to some extent partners in that trade, 

business, or adventure; nor is the writer awar~J of <:my C<:l.se 

(1mless it be In re Ja.m~ 110 I,.T. 556) in which pe.rsons who ha~re 

agreed to share profj:ts and losses in thls sense have been held 

not to be partners. 11 But it is not necessary that ill. losses 

should be shared. ;~t P• 51 the learned author se"ys :- "Persons who 

agrPe to sl:wrE' the profits of an a.dventure in which they engage 

are pr:i.ma facie partners, although they sti',onlate that the;;;' will 

losses beyond the sti .. ms they engage to subscribe= 

Brown v. Tanscott, 6 M. & W~ 119. 11 The present case is just such 

a case. The parties agl'eed to share profits equally, and to share 

losses, but wii~h a JJmi t of liability for losses to £700 in the 

case of the symUeate - the amount which the metnbc.;;:rs of the 

synd agreed to subscrib~~ 

Clause 5 of the agreement provides 11 That the Manu-

facturer be absolutely untramelled in the worh of product:l.on 

s::1les marketing anc1 distribution of the products of the said 

i:msiness in<~]J.lding the prices to be paid the persons to be 

emplo~'ed by b1m comrniss and terms of sale whether cash or 

<lredi t "n Thtls the plalnl~iffs had no right to tak~ any pa:rt iiJ. 

the I 



a partne:l.~ in a business ·ahd yet have no right to interfere with 

control the management of the 'business: see WalJser v ~ Hirsoh, 

Ch.:O., 460, ·. 

Thus 

creates a 

Many partners are dormant partners. 

and losses prima 

limitation of thE 

exclusion of the 

'frorn the managemefit·:of tbe business are'not sufficient to 
·'",,;· 

this prima facie col).clttsion. 

Clause 7 ·of the. ag~e:emeht provides that.· the manufacturer 

take any steps to S~ll 01'.· otherwise dispose of ~ny goodWill o:f 

e<;ms~nt ot the syndicate; and there,isa pro-

sale or 
op:inion strongly ~upports. the view. that 

to be the bll.siness of the plaintiffs a.nd 

and the defendant were regarded as . each ·. 

defendant that 

: tha:t it. was not in-. 

should .u.ar~y on bilsiness in conmion, but that 

. ~he ~usines~ contemplated b; :tni·~greement ~as to be ci .. business . o~vned · .. · . 

. I~mphasis .was laid -upon clause ?, 

tpe . defendimt · comple'te · c:ortt~ol of .the business. This clausa . . . 

a provision; th~~ .he shall: pe at liberty· 
·, ' . . . '. ' ·>: .. ;:. '•' . 

the busi·~ 



and the defendant. 

In my opin.ion the proper conclusion, upon the agreement as 

a whole, is that it creates a partnership between the plaintiffs and 

the defendant in the F'i:nnie bus:i.ness. Important indicia of partnersh:tJ 

are present - a business to be carried on for the purpose of profit, 

sharing ofits and.losses and a common ownership of good-will. As 

already stated, the £acts that there is a limitation as between the 

parties witb respect to the amount of losses to be borne by certain 

of them and that one person is made a managing partner do not displace 

the conclusion that a pa_rtnership was created. The provision in 

claus£:3 5 that the manufacturer may sell to M.mself the products of the 
would not be necessary if the business were the business 
business/ of the lr;;:mufacturer: - in that case the products would be 

his property as of course without any supposed Hsale to himself". The 

provision that the manu:facturcn' shall be at liberty to conduct the 

business "as if it >vere his own sole business" indicates thBt the 

manuf.s.cturer was not the only person interested in the business. The 

effect of this provision is to confer upori him a right (which he 

would not otherwise possess) to conduct the b-usiness as if it were his 

own business, thoneh in truth and :i.n fact lt was not his own business o 

The reference jn clause 12 to 11 the said business of the said 

Manufacturer 11 is ln my opinion only a phrHse identify1ng the business 

whlch has been mentioned :Ln the earlier parts of the agreement. 

I am therefore of opinion that a partnership in the 

business to be conducted at Finnie was created by the indentur·e. 

'rhe next questlon which arises is as to the scope of the 

partnership. It is contended for the plaintiffs that the business 

conducted by the defenda11t at South Brisbane was partnership business. 

I am tmable to accept this contention. The indenture gives a permit 

to occupy land at Finnie and provides that the lllanufacturer wiJ 1 

conduct a meat preserving etc~ industry "in on or about the premises 

contained in the said leases and will employ therein the preserving 

plant and canning plant :machinery etc. 11 • There is no provision in the 

deed for the carrying on c~f any business elsewhere than at Finnie. 

It is not suggested that a.ny ar<reeme:nt tlffeoting the matter other 

. than that containe(l in the deed was ever m.t:J.de between the parties. 

The plaintiffs would, I think, have been justif:lably astonished if 

the defendant had claimed that they were 1ia.ble for any of the 
expenditure I 
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expenditure of the defendant at South Brisbane. The overdraft in 

connection with the defendantts business there was about £170,000 

at thl":; tb1e of the trial. It is, I think, clear that the defendant 

had no authority to pledge the credit of the plaintiffs in respect 

of that business. In my opin:i.on, therefore, the plaintiffs fail 

in their claL1.1 so far as it is based upon the contention that the 

business established and carried on by the defendant at South 

Brisbane was partnership business. 

If, howaver, the parties were partners in respect of the 

Finnie business (as in my opinion is the case) the defendant was 

bound by certain fiduciary obligations to the plaintiffs. These 

obligations associated with partnership are now in statutory form. 

The Partnership Act 1891, sec. 33, provides "If a partner without 

the.consent of the other partners carries on any business of the 

same nature as and competing with that of the firm he must account 

for and pay over to the firm all profits made by him in that business l' 

The defendant did carry on at South Brisbane a meat preserving busi­

ness which was of the same nature as that of the firm and it was a 

competitive business. But he did not do this without the consent of 

the other partners. In the first place the agreement contemplates 

that the defendant will have or may have a business of buying and 

selling preserved meat products. Clause 5 of the agreement provides 

that "The Manufacturer further is expressly empowered to sell to 

hlmself the products of the said business or any part thereof or to 

any business in which he may be a proprietor or may be interestedn. 

These words show that he had a right to deal in the products of the 

business at Finnie and to be a proprietor of or interested in a 

business which dealt with such products. Further, clause 12 provides 

tha·t the syndi,:::ate will not enter into competition with the Finnie 

business. There is no provision that the manufacturer will not enter 

into competition with the Finnie business. The express provision 

against competition by the syndicate makes very significant the 

omission of any corresponding provision relating to the manufacturer. 

Further, the carrying on of the business of the defendant at South 

Brisbane was obvious and was certainly known at least to some of the 

plaintiffs, fo1' example to Mr. F' .J. Paterson, who gave evidence at 

the I 
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the ~rial. Accordingly, in my opinion, the defendant is not liable 

to aqcount for any of the profits o~ the South Brisbane business by 

·reason of the provisions of sec. 33 of the·. Partnership Act. 

Sec. 32 of the .Act contains the following provision: 11Every 

partner must account to the firm for any benefit derived by him 

withcmt the consent of the other partners from any transaction 

concerning the partnership or from any use by him of the partnership 
was of opinion that no partnershii was.created between the parties, 

property name or business connexion. The learned judge, though he/ 

did reach the conclusion that a fiduciary relationship existed which 

created the same obligation as that which by virtue of sec. 32 

would exist between the parties if they were partners - as in 

my opinion they were. His Honour held that the defendant derived 

a profit from a use of the partnership name and business connection 

in tbat by reason thereof he obtained defence contracts, and he has 

been neld"liable to account for the profits of th~e contracts. 

On 24th January 1941 the defendant wrote to Sir Earle Page, 

who was ~Mnister for Commerce, offering to supply caru1ed meat for 

export. The letter was signed t•Maxam Cheese Products Pty: Control­

ling Preserved Food Products Pty • 11 It referred to past operations, 

and ~t was admitted in cross-examination that the references were to 

the Finnie plant. The letter offered to supply preserved meat for 

overseas requirements. At this time the defendant had no other works 

from v;hich he could supply such products. This letter was acknow­

ledged by a letter in which Sir Earle Page stated that he would give 

consideration to 11 your suggestions regarding the use of your canning 

plant11 • On 14th or 15th February 1941 the plaintiff Paterson and 

the defendant went to Sydney and saw Wll'. A. W. Fadden, who was Acting 

Prime Minister. The defendant's evidence was to the effect that 

the :interview was concerned only with the subject of the lifting of 

an e:ntbargo on the import into Great Britain or minced beer products 

and that it had no reference to obtaining Government contracts for 

the supply of meat. 1\!Ir. Fadden and the plaintiff Paterson, however, 

gave evidence that the conversation related to obtaining defence 

contracts t 
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contracts for the Finnie works. The evidence of these witnesses 

was accepted by the learned trial judge as against the evidence of 

the defendant. Mr. Fed den sent Patel's on and the defendant to Sir 

Earle Page, who sent them to Senator McBride, who was then Minister 

for Supply. Further correspondence took place witl:.l Senator McBride, 

and the defendant nade offers to supply meat at a tin~ when the 

Finnie works were the only works which were available to him. At 

this time the defendant was actually engaged in the construction 

of his South Brisbane works, and he stated that this was the case in 

the correspondence, but he professed that the F'innie works could 

produce much larger quantities than was in fact possible and pro­

fessed also thattheycould produce meat and vegetable rations, which 

was not the case. There was no equipment at Finnie for handling 

vegetables. It could. produce only minced meat. Ultlmately the 

defendant obtained large contracts for the supply of minced beef, 

meat and vegetable\ rations and other. meat products, and he fulfilled 

these contracts from the South Brisbane works, not from Finnie. The 

plaintiffs contend that these contracts were obtained by the use of 

the partnership name and business connection, and that therefore 

the defendant is bound to account for the profits which the contracts 

produced. 

The nature of the fiduciary obligation o\fed by partners, 

direct.ors of companies and other persons in confidential relations 

has been fully considered in Regal, (Hastings) ~td. V,:._ Gull~ver, 

1942 1 A.E.R., 378. The learned trial judge quoted as setting out 

the la;w the following passage from the speech of Lord Russell of 

Ktllowen at p. 386:-

11The rule of equtty which insists on those, who by use of 
a fiduciary position make a profit, being liable to account 
for that profit, in no way depends on fraud, or absence of 
bona fides; or upon such questions or considerations as 
whether the profit would or should otherwise have gone to 
the plaintiff, or whether the profiteer was under a duty 
to obtain the source of the profit for the plaintiff, or 
whether he took a risk or acted as he did for the benefit 
of the plaintiff, or whether the plaintiff has in fact been 
damaged or benefited by his a.ction. The liability arises 
from the mere fact of a profit having, in the stated 
circumstances, been made. The profiteer, however honest 
and well-intentioned, cannot escape the risk of being 
called upon to account." 

The I 



The plaintiffs contend that the application of this 

principle requires the defendant to account for the profits 1nade from 

all. thL::: contracts whicb he obtained by reason of the negot;iations 

vvhich commenced with Ministers in Sydney in Februar·y 1941. 

Sec. 32 of the Partnership Act, which has already 

been quoted, applies only Whf;~re benefit has been derived 0vdthout 

the con.sent of the other pa.rtners 11 • In tbe Hegal case the secrecy 

of the transaction as a:~a.inst the shareholders of the company 

is emphasised at many points: see at p. 38f.> per Lord Russell of 

I\illowen quoting Lord Cairns L.C. from Parker v. Iv.Ic:Ker!re, 10 Ch. A. 96-

11A11 the court has to do is to examine whether a profit has been 

made by an agent, without the knowledge of his principal, in the 

course and execution of his agency· 11 : at p. 389 the statement that 

the directors could have protected tbernselves completely by 

obtaining the consent of the shareholders in a gener&.l meeting: 

at p. 392 per J,ord W:rlght "The rule -•••• is compendiously expressed 

to be that an agent must account for net. profits (that is, without 

the knowledge of his principal) acquired by him in the course of h:ts 

egency • 11 Lti.t p. 394 Lord Wrlght says· that the crucia,l :fact was that 

tb.e respondents made a secret profit out of the:l.r agency. 

In the present case there was no secrecy whatever about 

the defenda.nt 's proceedings. .The plaintiffs .did not attempt to prove 

that there was any eonce<::d.ment from them of the defendant 1s 

activitiP.s at South Brisbane. Evidence was given that one of' the 

plaintiffs, Pat<:::rson, vtsited the works in Bouth Brisbane not 

infrequently, and it must have been obvious to all the plaintiff's 

that the defendant was engaged in the meat preserv1ng business. No 

~protest or complaint of any kind was made until a long time after this 

action was instituted. In rr:~,y opinion it bL'ts not been shown that the 

profits which the defenda.nt ma1de by the operation of the South 

Brisbt::me works were benefits which were obtainec1 without the 

consent of the ple.intlffs, eveh if they may be regarded as beneflts 

which were obtained b;v the use by the defendant of the partnership 

name or business cormection. 
The I 



The plaintiffs furthtlr contended in the alternative, 

however, that even if the defendant was not bound by an obligation 

of a fiduciary char<'lcter, which imposed upon him a duty to account 

for all or some of the profits made by him, yet there was a breach 

of the contract made between him and the plaintiffs by the 

indenture exE:cuted on 9th August 1939. The alleged breach con-

s:lsted in ceastn.g to carry on business at F'innie under the ter:rr.s 

of the indenture. 

There are two views which may be taken of the obligations 

created by the indenture. Upon the first view the effect of the 

indenture may be described by saying that the plaintiffs were 

prepared to allow the defendant to use the Fimlie works for a 

payment of £300 per annum together with a chance of profHs, with a 
~ .:1 h "i l ·i ·~ \~- ~, n"n 

limitation''ol'l' losse's to £700. The operation or non-operation of 

the works was left completely to the discretion of the defendant, 

the plaintiffs relying on the probability that the defendant (even 

if he might become interested in another meat preserving business) 

would find it profitable to opere,te the works in a joint interest. 

If the defendant decided that operating the works wou:W. pay, then 

the agreement as to profits and losses came into operation. The 

defendant then would fully perform. his agreement if, operating 

the wox·ks as if he were the sole owner of the business there 

conducted, he accounted in accordance with the agreement. But 

the defendant was at liberty to carry on any other business for 

himself that he chose. He did not agree to devote all (or any) of 

hls time to the Finnie business. Under clause 10 he was expressly 

einpowered to appoint substitutes. It was agreed tha.t he should 

not be bound personally to render any services under the agreement, 

and that he might refrain from opere.ting the works at such periods 

as he should consider proper. As already pointed out, clause 5 

contemplated that he could carry on another business, and clause 12, 

while binding the syndicate not to compete with the Finnie 

business, left the defendant free so to compete. The result of 

this view of the agreement between the parties is that, while the 

defendant must account in accordance with the terms of the 

agreement I 



agreement for all the proceeds of the Finnie business, he was 1:mder 

no kind of obligation to the plaintiffs in respect of the proceeds 

of the business conducted at So-..:tth Brisbane. 

second view of the agreement is that the agreement went 

further than merely imposing ur1on the defendant an obligation to 

ace ount for pro.f'i ts if he chose to operate the works. Upon thi.s 

view the defendant was bound to do h1s best for the plaintiffs, 

jointly with himself, to make a profit at Finnie if a reasonable 

opportunity offered. Thus if a contract was ava:i.lable which the 

Finn:i.e works could carry out, then it was the duty of the defendant 

to accept the contract for those works, and not to accept it for 

himself. The result of this view would be that it should be held 

that the defendant ought to have run the Finnie works, at least for 

the production of minced beef products during the period when the 

emba.rgo upon the import of minced beef into Great Britain was lifted, 

at which time, it is contended for the p1a1.ntiffs, it would have 

been possible to operate the works profitably. 

In my opinion the former view of the contract is to be 

preferred to the latter view. I base this conclusion upon the 

express provision that the defendant may refrain from operating the 

works at Finnie, upon the provisions in clause 5 whj.ch show that it 

is contemplated th101.t the defendant may be interested in other 

bus:i.nesses deal:ing witL _preserved meat, and upon the fact that 

clause 12 expressly reqrtires the syndicate tc refrain from competit­

ion with the Finnie business, whereas no such obligation is imposed 

upon the defends.nt. The evidence sb.ows that the parties understood 

the contract in this way. No claim against the defendant in respect 

of operations at South Brisbane was made until long after it was 

well known to the pla.intiffs what he was doing. 

This interpretation of the agreement between the parties 

is open to the comment that it allows the defendant to prefer his 

own personal interest to that of his partners. The defendant said 

in evidence that be intended to use Finnie to supply Government 

contracts, if he should succeed in getting them. But he was, at 

the I 



the relevant time, actually bvilding his large modern works in 

South Brisbane and the learned trial judge did not accept this 

evidence of the defendant as to his intention. His Honour stated 

the position very clearl;r in the following words:-

11 In such circumstances it was in the interests of the 
Defendant personally to obtain contracts which he could 
fulfil at Brisbane. It was his duty to obtain contracts to 
f\tlfil. at F'innie. It was contrary to the Defendant 1 s interest 
to extend or add to the plant at Finnie bEccause he would have 
to bear the whole cost for a return of half the profits, 
whereas he would receive the whole of the profits from his 
activities in Brisbane." 

The result was in His Honour 1 s opinion that the defendant "wa.s in 

a position where his fiduciary duty to the plaintiffs and his own 

interests were violently in conflict, and he bmned to the pressure of 

his OVin 1nterests 11 • The learned judge applied the rule that when 

a person subject to a fiduciary obligation gains a personal 

advemtage by availing hj.mself of his fiduciary position he com:nits 

a. breach of' ~:;he rule thnt a person who has a duty to perfo:r:n shall 

not pJ.ace himself in a position j_n whlch his interest conflicts 

with bis duty -lthrtr~hnell v. Th,e Bguit~·-TrB&,tees etc. Go., 42 C.L.R. 

384. It was because His Honour held that the defendant had placed 

hin1seJ.f in such a positj.on that he was ordered to accotmt for the 

profits of the South Brisbane business. 

I entirely agree that the defendant was in a position 

where the interests of himself as an individual and the interests 

of the plaintiffs jointly with himself were in conflict. But he did not 

11 place himself11 in that posit:ion in breach of any dut:lr. He was, in 

my opinion, placed in trwt position by the terms of the very unusual 

contract which the plaintlffs were content to make with him. The 

possible conflict of interest rrn.1st have been e.ppa:rent ab initio. If 

he operated the Finnie works he would have to provide any mwessary 

addi t:lona1 phmt and would get only half the profits: if he 

operated vwrks of hls own (as in my opinion he was enttt11ad to do) he 

would get all the profits. Thf~ plaintiffs took the chance of the 

defendant deciding that the F'innie establishment was worth using from 

hls point of' view. It was an existing plant, and, if circurnst,mces 

had I 



had been propitious and if the defendant had not been able to com.rna.nd 

sufficient capital to erect other works, the operation of the Finnie 

works might have been quite pro:fi table. It was doubtless an 
or 

expectation that this would,/at least might, be the case, which made 

the plaintiffs consider it worth while to make a contract with 

l\1cAnulty wh:tch left them in h:l.s hands to such an extent. In my 

opinion the plaintiffs themselves, by accepting the contract, placed 

:McAnulty in a position which necessarily involved not only a possible, 

but an actually contemplated, conflict between his interests and 

their interests, and they cannot now complain because such a conflict 

in fact arose and he pursued his own interests in preference to 

pursuing theirs. 

But even if the second view which I have stated above of 

the contract should be taken, I am of opinion that it has not been 

shown that there was a breach of contract by the defendant. It is 

clear that the defendant was not boun<t to spend money in improving or 

adding to the F'innie works. He gave evidence, which was not challenged 

in any way and which there is no reason to doubt, that the Finnie 

works could not be used during the summer months owing to the absence 

of sufficient provision for refrigeration. He gave evidence that the 

cost of installing necessary refrigeration would be about £8000. He 

also gave evidence that trouble had arisen with reference to the 

disposition of the effluent from the works. The effluent got away 

through a neighbour's property and the neighbour objected. Therefore 

it would have been necessary to evaporate the effluent, which would 

have involved further substantial expenditure. In order to equip the 

works for making meat and vegetable rations and sausages, large 

expenditure, amounting to about £2o,ooo,would have been necessary. 

This evidence was not modified by cross-examination, and there was 

no contrary evidence. It therefore does not appear that it would 

have been possible for the defendant to perform at the Finnie works 

the contracts which he succeeded in obtaining from the Commonwealth 

Government. Accordingly, in my opinion, even unon the view of the 

contract for which the plaintiffs contend, there was no breach of 

contract by the defendant. 

I I 



·. 18 •.. 

I am therefore of opinion that the judgment of the Supreme 

.·Court should be varied by striking out the order for an account 

of profits from the manufacture and sale of canned meat products 

packed by the defendant from the business of meat preserving and 

canning carried on by the defendant between 9th August 1939 a.nd 9th 

August 1944. This conclusion renders it unnecessary to deal with 

the claim of the plaintiffs that an order should have been made 

for the payment of interest upon the balance found due on the 

taking of those accounts as from the date of termination of the 

contract period instead of as from the date of the taking out of 

the judgment. 

The judgment of the court ordered that an account be taken 

of the profits derived from the business carried on by the defendant 

between 9th August 1939 and 9th August 1944 at Finnieo 

The defendant from time to time rendered accounts of the 

business carried on at Finnie, as he was bound to do under clause 4 
.... ~.~~·' 

ot the agreement between the parties. Under clause 5 of the 

agreement the defendant was entitled to purchase the products of the 

Finnie business upon the terms therein set out, and the accounts 

rendered by him showed a purchase by him of the products of the 

works. The plaintiffs contend that the judgment of the court sh~~ld 

be varied by ordering that the account to be taken of the Finnie 

business should be taken on the basis that the appellant had not 

himself purchased any of the products of the said business. 

The plaintiffs ar~1e that the evidence shows that the defendant did 

not purchase the products and that he is therefore bound to account, 

subject to just allowances and deductions, for the moneys wh:l.ch he 

received upon the sale of the products, through Bruce Pie & co., to 

the Shields Ice and Cold Storage Company Limited, a company which 

was referred to in the correspondence as the Shields Preserving 

Works. The contention of the defendant, which was accepted by the 

learned trial judge, was that he had purchased certain products of 

thf:> business, that he re-sold them, and that he was entitled to 

retain the profit upon the re-sale. 

The I 
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The determinatJ.on of this qu.estion involves, in the first 

plaee, a consideration of the terms of clause 5 of the agreement. 

Clause 5 is as follows:-

11That the Manufacturer shall be absolutely 
untramelled in the work of production sales marketing 
and distribution of the products of the said business 
including the prices to be paid the persons to be 
employed by hi:u commissions and terms of sale whether 
cash or credit. The N!a.nufacturer further is expressly 
emno>vered to sell to himself the products of the said 
business or any part thereof or to any business in 
which he mg,y be a proprietor or may be interested ani 
in everv respect without limiting the meaning of these 
words by any words previously or he:reinaftt::lr expressed 
he shall be at liberty to conduct the business as if it 
were his own sole business provided however that all 
goods sold or delivered to himself or to any business of 
which he may be the owner or be interested shall be 
brou.ght into account as sold when delivered at the prices 
then current in Brisbane for such products as on a cash 
basis and on that basis shall be taken into account before 
estimating any allowance chargeable as interest and as an 
expense under clause 4. hereof." 

;rhe learned trial judge, after referring to the fact that 

the defendant had in the F'innie accounts made charges against the 

syndicate for storage and commission which could not be justified 

if he had purchased the products on his own account, and to th'3 

fact that it was only after the transactions were completed that 

the defendant had invoiced the goods to himself as Maxam Cheese 

Products Pty., stated his decision in the following words: ... 

11Thj.s was a loose method of recording sal·es, for which 
the Defendant must take the responsibility; but giving 
full weight to that factor, I find myself convinced 
that the Defendant intended to purchase the produc·t;s 
of the Finnie business and that he did in fact purcm se 
them, although the records were incorrect as to the date 
of the purchase." 

Clause 5 provides that the manufacturer is expressly 

empowered to sell to himself the products of the l''innie business, 

provided that all goods sold or delivered to himself or to any 

business of which he may be the owner or in which he may be 

in teres shall be brought into account as sold when delivered 

at the prices then current in Brisbane for such products as on a 

cash basis. It is difficult to understand and to apply the 

conception of a sale by a person to himself. The terms of the 

clause show that this difflcn1ty was appreciated, and accordingly 

it was provided thnt goods sold should be brought into account 

when I 
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when delivrared, that is, when delivered to the manufacturer or to 

an~; business in which he was interested. In my opinion it is a 

fair construction of the clause to say that the defendant should 

be taken to have purchased the goods when, but not before, the 

goods v,,ere delivered at premises which Wf::re under his control or 

subject to his direction(so far as the goods were concerned)and 

which were not at the Finnie works, if the goods ·were then treated 

as having entered the area of another business conducted by the 

defendant apart from the plaintiffs, so that they came entirely 

within his own control and disposition and the plaintiffs had no 

fu.rthE~r interest in them., 

The plaintiffs point to the facts that the correspondence 

relating to tht3 disposition of the goods in question, with hardly 

an exception, was conducted in the name of Preserved F'ood Products 

Pty" (not Maxam Cheese Products Pty.) that the letter of credit 

under which the sale of the goods t9 the Shields Preserving Co. was 

financed was in the name of Preserved Food Products Pty., and thr.'lt 

the licence to export the goods, which was an essential condition 

of the transaction of re-sale, was in the same name. But a 

consideration of the many exhibits in the action shows that the 

defendant used the names of Preserved Food Products Pty. and. Maxam 

Cheese Products Pty. almost indifferently in his transactions. He 

had registered both names under the Registration of Firms Act 1942 

as the firm name of himself as the only member of the firm and he 

vms ent:i. tled to use either of them in his business. Accordingly, 

in my opinion, these facts are equivocal and cannot be regarded 

as decisive of the qu.-3stion whether he bought the Finnie products 

for himself. 

But there were some acts of the defendant which in my 

opinion were quHe unequivocal. In the first place he charged 

in the F'inni•e accounts as against the syndicate a sum of £186:3:4 

for storage charges in respect of the period after the goods were 

delivered into his own store. Such a charge against the syndicate 

cou.ld not possibly be ,justified if the goods had then been 

purchased I 



!n the second place b.e charged as 

the syndicate 1:1 commission of £387:11:9 on the sale of the 

Shields Preserving Works. This again is a charge which · 

;justified if. the defendant was treating the goods 

The dt::;fendant said that these charges were 

With all< respect to the opinion of His Honour, 

defendant to escape in this 

of his actions, and to allow him 

events by subsequently invoicing 

hims.elf as IviaxamCheese products Pty. and withdl'awing 

cnarges as against the Sjrndicate. The acts of the defendant 

charges after delivery of the goods to him in 

my opinion, conclusive against his claim that he 

purchaser of the goods treating them as no longer 

·belonging to the enterprise conducted at Finni<:r •. Accordingly, in 

the .Supreme Gou:rt sho11ld be varied by 

ord~J,,ing that the accou...nt of the business carried on by the 

Fihnle should be taken on the basis that the appellant 

himself· pttrchased .. any of the products of the said business o 

should be allowed, the first and 

accounts of the 

omitted, 

should be included that the accounts of the li'innie 

which I have just stated. 

in relation to 

r~spect to the basis 

should .·be tal{ en. 

issue and have 

in the circumstances 

plaintiffs slwuld pay to 
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The relati.ons4fi.p tabJ. between the appellant e.nd thE· 

syndicr.1te I'c~spondE-mts by the insti'UJl.H'?nt o:f 9tb 

1 t me to he partnership, but I think_, 

l~JlYerthel , it i:nvol.ved some fiduciary o~b1igation. upon the part 

of the appellant towa.rds responde:nts. 

The 's .:fidtlCil::t;ry duty arose from the .fact that fer 

tE.~rm of the agreement was to carry on a business in the 

profits of which the respondents were to share and that he held a 

contribution of £700 :from the respondents which they had pl.ac(~d. in 

his hands to capital other expenditure and,pro tanto, to 

a:nswer possibl.~: losses that might be incurred. This placed him 

in sucb a. si.tu.ation that,wi thin the scope of the eement ,he wa.s 

and in good fed th not to pursue his ovm 

the interests secured by 



unde:rtak:ing. I 

cl. 5 ) ,vv-hi<:>h 

conduct a rival business 

oth(~rwise wot1ld or 

was to conduct on 

turn. to his O'\'m exclusive 

profit wh:Lch P. errtor 
A 

not think that tb.e provision of the 

ellant to sell the 

of 
/ '_t 

busine to himself or tojany· business in which he 

be a p:ropri be interested,amounted to an 

implied recognition .right on his part to conduct a business 

~ivalry with that cover by the It appears to r 

tributing,:not to manufacturing,business • Ih any case, 

onE: thing to conduct another business or ot.her busi:nes::;es 

firE!t and another to conduct a 

the srune scription. 'I'he clause go no furt 



. proprietor of' anoth.er b11sines~:; bu.ying the produ~ cf the f:i.rst. 

But the a.mbtt of +b.""' "'PTI"'11 ant '.., ""J' -"u· ·"'1.' a· "''7 iiuty v u,'f,:; {;...\. --~· v~.J..... . ~- .i._ ... u ~\.1' ,.J.:J ........... . depends 

entirely on thf:l scope of.·_ the operations he was bound by the terms 

of the agreernent to perform .. He was precluded from tu.rnincr to 

his OV\JTI. sole use such benBfi ts only as fe1.1 within th~ scope of 

+he· od.-~rc..,nt·1,T" W.b, ~C11 '1.,...d'::,r·. thP- ·l'l·P"·r·-"'""'""9ll. t Wl.' th thE~ T'P~nond·P"'+"" "'P .. v .. 1;';t v_..._,, _,.._ .'-· _.l..i.. ..-.J~ ... , l..,..,_;,: . .z ....... _,.:..,... __ .· · .• -~ ~,., '-•"-;:_) ~::-.;-.....,,_l.'..&... , • .,.__ ............... ·.--rr· ·"-l-"'--"'·.t..t...,~.__),r.~ .... . 

To define satisfa.ctorily thE,- soope of this s.dventure is :tYif 

'the cardinal difficulty ir1 the case~ Once the scope of the 

agr<?ed adventu.re_ is determined,t t becotnes a question o f applying 

settled principlesto thesp~clfic facts. 

The agreement provided that the appellant should wodr, 

on and conduct a. mE:?at preserving end ce.nntn'g bus:i.ness or 

other e.ll.ied _industry in on or about the·· speciflr:1d premises 

to employthereit~ the plant,whicb the document proceeds to 

gener&l terms. 
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op c11ant's cons 
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<July 194l,must have en notorious in Brisbane those 

interest in 
' 

it is hard to su~pose that 

rns ::: we:re not aware of what the appellant was doing. 

Yet they took no ep to stop or warn him.. These circumstances 

su.ggest a promj.sing case of acquiescence and there are other 

matters which rnigbt be used to support it. But there is no plea 
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acquiescence and consen:t and acquiescence r!io not 

-appear to have foJ!/!! ~_:ue fought at the tria_l. I, therefore, 

leave out of' acco-1.mt1~ihether any or all of the respondents 

consented to or acq1xiesced in the course taken by the e.ppellant .. 

{!; ha_ve said that I -do nqt regard the agreement a.s establishing 

apartnership between the appellant on the one side and the 

respondents on the other. I do not thlnk that,in thevievr l 
a.. 

have teJ\:en,it is,... vecy/materia.l matter,and I shall, therefore, 

state only in e. summary .form the reasons for my vievr that it is 

not a partnership. Substantially I think that the agreement 

is one for the sharing of profits,but not of losses,in an. 

adventure the complete control· of' which wa.s to be placed under 

the s.ppellant who was to have for the purpose exclusive 

occupation of ·the premises as a licensee a.t a so ca.lled rent and 

WElS to ovm the business and conduct it in his own name and on his 

own responsibility a.nd to be the .. a.gent for the respondents 



nE nor o ibly. I S8Y edvtsedly the 

is not one sharing losses,although, 

tement needs queliflcat E~xpl~:~nat From 

.mi:xed up provisions af'fectine; the matter, tt.e substantial re::; 

to be deduced 

committed £?00 

to me to be that the respondent::: 

bus , Pltrpos es, it could applied to or 

towards any loss end,moreover,as the primary fund answer lossef, 

but that on the whole account over the five years term of tt.e 

agreement the respondents were not otherwise to bear losses. 

The clauses in the agreement which restrict tbe risrhts of the 

appellant those ·which use e suggesting an interE~st on 

the part of the respondents to be accounted for by the feet 

that the n3spondents looked to share in the profits a.nd we:r~: 

lessees of p:rEHnises.. The clauses appear to me to bE· quitE! 

nr:;tural a.nd to e:xprN;s neither an intention thr;;t t1-:te:re should be, 

nor a belief th~t there was,a ship.. .So far as intention 
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not the only ter c imed 
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's Finnie gave rise, to participation in the 

distribution work· contra sJ and that he 

approprlatE!d to himself, as owner of the new works, the opr,'ortunit 

or benefits growing of as soc ticn with the vmr};:s tbe 

ject of this pert of the case I 

felt some difficulty. I have 110 do11bt that,in .r~muary 1941, 

·the appella.nt WB.s attempting to obtain orders from the 

government for tb.e prod,;.ct of meat and vegetable rations and 

wns doing so under of his oc tion of tl:e works 
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based en s 

sol 

s with I 

am :not draw ence that lt '0.rou.ld a 

a condition as 

or On the contrary, I think 

prcbabll evidence the thet 

it cmJld donE, readily a.nd deal of 

expendi turt:: ~ But, on , I have forme:d the opinion that, 

en exc ioned, a between 

these r obtaining of orders for the 

not been ,and all the 

it. Actually I thinlr that it was 

feet <lf' the l:milding of the new works that seeur orders 

se~},f.or instance, ex I06. Mansfield J * ·u.sed the same matE:.rie1 
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the appellant as ::tllustratingAconflict between duty and 

~nterest whichresultedfromhis erecting works of his own in 

On the one hsnd,therewere theopp,ortunities for securing 
ZUn-L ' 

·contracts for execution bv an extended altered ·plant at Finnie :on " . . /'l . J 

the: other hand, there WflS the temptation to confine the erection of 

plant to the nevr works.. . . N'!J! reason. for not adopting this tlievf 

appellant's situation lies in what I have already safd.. I 

think that he was linder any duty to extEmd or expand the 

at Fi~.ie 1even if advan~ageous and profitable business was 

certain prospect and wotlld have followed. The conflict wtiE. 

interest with duty,therefore,did not arise because there was no 

duty upon the pQint to act otherwise that in his own sole interest. 

The e}~ception. from the conclusion that no s1l!'ficient 
. a/~ 

. connexion has been shovm between the obtaining of contracts.A_:t;he 

representations ms.de to the authorities based on the appellant • s 

control of the works of the syndicate is the first order for 
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to open them 

have bec~n costly and U'1profita.ble, it does bot appear to nte 

an ansvver to the fact. that business was clone exclusively on 

accoun.t of the appel1ant which f,el1 within the scope of the 

adventur1:: upon which he had ernbarked for the benefit of himself 

and the respondents. ThE~ it11f3tion is like that' of an agent 

who says that the advantage he obtail'1.ed in the cou.rse of his 

agency spel1.ed no injnry to hts prd.mcipal. In such a case n the 
" Court •... is not entitled to • . . . receive;' evidence or sug :'estion 
n or argument as to whether, the principal dilid or did not suffer 
"any injury in fact_by reason of_thedealing of the agent: 
" for the safety.of mankind I'equires that no agent sgall be able 
" to put his principal to such an inquiry as that .. " per 

James L.J. Parker v McKenna 1874 L.R. IO Ch. App 96 at p. 124. 

How cr:m a court te11 which v~Ta.s the true reason why the appellant 

kept the \NOrks at Finnie .shut ? Was it because in the interests · 

of all he thought it .best to .. exercise his power under the foregoing 

provision ? Was it,on the contrary, because it was .better for him 

to execute the. orders at his fie'li\f works for his ovm sole benefit ? 
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As to the dates from which interest is calculated,I think 

in the c J;rnces of this case the learned Judge was en.titled 

to t!0ke the view that interest should not beprder as from an 

ea:rl:ier date than his judgment and that hls order on this 

point should not be interfered with. 
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0ertified upon stwh account be carried to the HCcount of the 

business the subject of the agreement of 9th August 1939. Further 

consideration in the Supreme Court should be r.eserved. 

It should be ordered that the'appellant have the costs of th 

appeal but they be set off against the costs recoverable by tht~ 

respondents m1der the judgment of the Supreme Court. 
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It appears from the deed sued ·upon ln this action that the 

parties, described as the syndicate, contracted to grant a licence 

to the appellant to occupy certain land and premises and to use plant 

and machinery tn and about the premises, for the consideration and 

upon the terms set forth in the deed. The appellant agreed to carry 

on a business described in the deed on the land and premlsos and to 

use the plant and machinery, or such part of lt as he saw fit, in 

carrylng on the business, and to pay for the licence an annual rental 

of :£300. The ter:ms and conditions upon vvhlch the appellant further 

agreed are set forth in fifteen clauses of the deed followlng the 

appellant t s covenant to carry on the .business ru:1d to pay the rental. 

The land and pre111ises vvere at Finnie. One of the terms of the deed 

was a covenant by the syndicate not to en tel' into a competi ti vo 

business. The appellant did not enter into a slmilar covenant • 

. Apart from equity, he had no obligation to refrain from starting any 

business coming within the description in the deed. After the 

appellant signed thG deed, and long before it h,:Jd n.m out, he erected 

a meat-packing factory at Brisbane, outlaying a very substantial 

amount ln th1s new enterprise. It is to be remembered that his on1y 

tenure of the Finnie darks was a licence held from lessees. He 

obtained, and carried out ln hls new factory, governxnent contracts 

iNhich are mentioned in the evidence.. Only one of the procJucts for 

vvhich he got contracts had been produced at the JTinnie VJorks. They 

v'Vere badly equipped to supply that product and not equipped at all 

to supply the other products for which the appellant got these 

government orders. The deed expressly empowered the appellant 11 to 

.refrain f'rom working Ute business (at Finnie) at such pEH'iods as he 

shall consider proper11 • The appellant was also expressly empowered 

·to te1·minate his contract wi.th the syndicate at any tlme. Relying 

upon the former power the appellant kept the J!"innie Works closed ior 

most I 



most of the period for which the contract was expressed to run. 

The :resrJondents (the plaintiffs) claimed a shore of the profits 

made in the new factory at Brisbane during the period of the 

contract. ~['he Su.prerne Court decided that the deed made the appellant 

a fiduciary agent of the syndicate to carry on the business described 

in the deed: that the apr,ellant v1olated h1s trust as such 

fiduciary agent by closing the Finni9 V:iorks and preferring to erect 

the Brisbane factory and carry on a meat-packing business there: 

that he obtained the government ordel"S by virtue of 11 his F'innie 

connections 11 , or in other words, by virtue of his fiduciary 

:relationship to the syndicate; and that for these H;asons he was a 

constructive trustee of the ,,rofits of his meat-packing factory at 

Brisbane, for the syndicate, and upon the terms and conditlons of 

the deed relating to the division of the profits of the I'in...J.ie 

business. A statement by Turner L.J. in Clegg v. J.;~dmondson, 8 De 

G.M. & G., .808, needs little adaptation to be apposite to the claim 

11 If the;,r had led to ruinous expenditure ••• nothing would of course 

have been heard of this clai.m of the plaintiffs and there would have 

been no claim against them. Are they then j_n justice entitled to 

reap the benefit Yvhen they could not have been made subject to loss ?n 

In Oliver v. Court, 8 Price, at p. 160: 146 E.R., at p. 1165, there 

is a convenient statement of' the rule of equity which the' Supreme 

Court applied in awarding the respondents one-half of the net profits 

which the appellant made during the period of the contrcwt in his 

factory at Brisbane from the business of meat packing 11 ••• persons 

who are in any way i1wested with a tn.wt, or an employment to be 

performed by them to the advantage of their cestui que trust, or 

principal, are prima facie, virtually c!isqrmlified from }:Jlacing 

themselves in a situation incompatible with the honest discharge 

of their dutyll. See also ..[9erdeen Eailvya.;[ Co. v. Blackie Bros., 

1 Macq., p. 461, at pp. 471, 472; In re rhomson, 19301 Ch., 203 

at pp. 215 and 216. The appellant does not question the strictness 

of thls ru.le of equi.ty. He says that he did not assume an 

obligation I 



. ·. 

obligation of a fiduciary nature to the syndicate to carry on the 

PllSiitess described in the deed· and was therefore entitled to 

appropriate beneficially to himselfthe whole of the profits made 

in' his meat packing business at Brisbane. If he assumed a fiduciary 

duty by signing this deed, he disqualified himsel1' from entering 

a wide field of business unless the potentialities of the F'innie 

Works set limits to the forbidden area. <:( """ re. 7~<1'-Yl. c~-,-~1<-' 

The terms in which the appellant agreed with the syndicate to 

carry on the business at F'innie are as follows: 11 the said manufactur­

er agrees that he will faithfully work carry on and conduct a Meat 

Canning business or any other allied industry in 

the premises corita.ined in the said leases and will employ 

Preserving Plant and Canning Plant machinery and the 

df!lspatch and general equipment machinery plant and tools of the 

Lessors or such of them as he may consider necessary with any 

or additional Plant or' mach_inery as he may deem advisable 

Manufacturer shall pay to the syndicate for the Licence 

or, permit a rental at the rate of three hundred pounds per annum 
' . 

payable at the time and in the mariner set out in the said' leases". 

It appears· from these terms that the appellant did not expressly agree 

to carry on the business as atl agent or partner or in any capacity 

other than the sole principal·of the business. It was an agreement 

tha. t the appellant would carry on the business. Construing the 

words of the agreement, it me~nt that the appellant would carry on 

the business a.s his business, sub·ject of course, to the other terms 

and conditions of the deed. In .·n& ~pinion they do not raise the 

implication that the appellant was employed by the syndicate to carry 

on the business. 

The word 11fai thfullyu in the appellant 1 s covenant to carry 

on and conduct the business at Io'innie does not, in my opinion, 

import that duties of a fiduciary natur·e are superadded to the legal 

obligation imposed by the covenant; the '<''Wrd signifies only the 

strictness of the common law obligation which the appellant assumed to 

the syndicate to carry on the business. 

Clause 2 I 



Clattse 2 of the deed was also relied upon to establish that 

the appellant owed duties of a fiduciary nature to the syndicate to 

conduct thf:: business to the:Lr best advantage. This clause said liThe 

Ivianuf~<cturer will accept the sttm £700 from the Syndicate and 

shallutilise that sum j_n carrying on the said business.n Clause 4 

provided that Hall moneys advanced including the sum of £700 advanced 

as aforesaid shall bear interest at 1 OJL 11 'I' he clause made this 

interest a first charge on the nett profits of the business. Clause 

8(a) said that the appellant should contribute the sum of £150 nto 

supplement; th€ funds supplied by the Syndicate wh1ch shall be 

'D.tilised in the business 11 • This clause also provided that this sum 

of £150 and these funds should be credited to the appellant and the 

syndicate respectively to ar-rive at their final share of prof'i t or 

loss. Clause 4 (1) (a) pl'oVided that if there was a loss it should be 

payable nout of the moneys advanced by the syndicate 11 and in the next 

place, orie b.a~f' by the syndicate and one half by the appellant. 

Clause 8 provioed that the syndicate should not be finally liable 

for any loss e.:xceeding 11 the initial fund paid over to the manufacturert~ 

Tba t was the sum of £700. These provislons of the deed show in my 
OY' 

opin:ion that the sum £700 was an advance ~-a J.oa.J.. :Jt loan does 

not give rise to anything like fiduciary duties on the part of one 

pal'ty to the other. See Kenn.edy v. De Trafford, 1896 1 Ch. at Po 774 

(affirmed 1897 .A.C. 180). The advance was coupled with a condition 

that it was to be ut:ilised in the business. The appellant was bou.nd 

to fulfil this obligation. So far as this obligat1on extended he 

rnay have been a trustee but when it was performed or dtscharged I 

think any supposed trust came to an end. The trust would in any 

case be limited to the application of the moneys • 'J'he conditions 

upon which these moneys were pa1d by the syndicate to the appellant 

did not, in my opinion, give them an interest ln the business of 

which the appellant became a trnstee. I think that upon the true 

construction of the deed the appe11ant was the sole owner of the 

business. His agreement to carry it on imposed a legal obligation 

upon him to do so and no more. This agreement was not affected with 

a trust. The appellant carried on and conducted the btisiness and 

received I 



of the business in his own right as beneficial 
terms and 

He was bound to apply the profits in accordance with theJ 

conditions of the deed. There Wl?.S nothing fiduciary about his 

:relationship except that the syndicate may sue in equity to enforce 

these terms and conditions relating to the application of the 

profits. It was nota fundamental condition ,of the deed that the 

syndicate reposed trust and confidence in the appellant to carry 

on.the business to their best advantage. The parties contracted as 

to what their ll!Utual rights and obligations were with respect to 

· the licence and the business, and these constitute the only 

·engagement between them. Inmy opinion the deed did not interfere 

with the appellant's freedom to conduct any business within the 
.i 

descripticm of the business he agreed to carry on or to obtain the 

in question i!'l the case and carry them out in 

. hi~ Brisbane factory or to appropriate beneficially to himself the 
.. ·; .. 

ofthe profits derived from any such business and all of 

the>se contracts. 

But there is another question, namely, were the appellant 

and the members of the syndicate partners? Partnership cannot be 
. . 

constituted without an intention to be partners- Suttonv. Grey, 

1894 1 Q .B. , 285. The question whether the relationship of 

partnership exists 11depends upon the. whole contract between the 

partiesn - lJ:oss v .. P!i!;rk~':ns, L.R. 20 Eq. at P• 335· What the Master 

of Rolls said in that case is 4pthere but, of course; not 

conclusive - "There is not a word about partnership in it (the 

agreement) from beg:inrling to e:b.d' that is the first observation to 

be made upon it- they are mercantile men and if they were going to 

be partners why did not. they s~y so?" If there was a partnership, 
:. : ·. 

the provisions of 'this deed vw~id have made the members of the 
~ 

syndicate sleeping partners! ·ht• if there was a partnership} tl:le 

business would have b~el1 c~rri~~ on by .the syndicate and the 

appellant; he being the active :partner. 
-

The syndicate agreed, in 

clause mimber 1 of the deed, not to interfere with the appellant 

''in/ 



6. 

II in the vwrl~::J_ng, carry:i.ng on and conduct of' the business 11 except 

:l.n the manner in which the appt1llant agreed that they could interfere. 

The syndicate also that there would be no such interference 

by any person claiming under them or by the Jessees of L.he land the 

subject of the 1icence. Clause 5 provided that the appellant would 

be "absolutely U...'1trarmne11ed in the work or production, sales, 

marketing and distribution of the profits of the said business 

including the prices to be paid~ the persons to be employed by him, 

comrnissions and terms of sale, whether cash or credit". It wi11 

have been noticed that the terms in which the appellant agreed to 

carry on the business leave the question of the plant and mach~nery 

to be employed in the business entirel:y· to the appellant 1s discretion. 

Clause 8(b) provided that any additional plant thE; appellant brought 

on the premises was to be and remain the property of the appellant. 

Cla.use 6 gave him the right to terminate the agreement by a month 1 S 

noticP.. Clause 10 said that the appellant was not bound personally 

to render any service under the deed, and that he could perform 

anything to be done under it through a substltute or substitutes, or 

in such manner as he may consider advisable 11 • This clause said 

also that the appellant 11 might even refrain from ·working business 

at such periods as he sha.l1 consider proper 11 • In Cox v. Hickman, 

8 H.t.c., 312, Lord Fensleydale said - 11 I can find no case in which 

a person has been he1d liable as a dormant or slGeplng partner .,.,!here 

the trade might not fairly be said to be carried on for him together 

with those o~tensibly conducting it and when therefore he would stana 

in the position of pl'incipal tov1ards the ostensible members of the 

firm or his a.gents 11 • See also Holme v. Hamnot:_lS).L.R. 7 Ex., at Po 230, 

per Bramwell Bo I think that the inactivity which these clauses of 

t.be deed imposed upon the members of' the syndicate d1d not make them 

sleeping partners, but prevented them from being partners at all. If 

the appellant and each member of the syndieate were partners the 

relationship would imply that each of the parties to the deed was a 

principal in the business and each was an agent of the other. I 

cannot collect any intention from the provisions to which I have 

referred other tban that the business wa.s to be carried on by the 

appellant as the sole principal. There 1 
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There is, lwwever, an agreement for sharing profits and 

rrta.king good losses arising in the conduct of the business. 

The type of a partnership contract is an agreement to share 

profits and make good losses, if any are sustained. Persons 

who engage in any trade upon the terms 11 of sharing the profits 

a.nd making good all losses arising therefrom a.re necessarily 

to some extent partners in that trade" - Lindley on Partnership, 

6--t-t. ·~d P' • uJ.l At\. n .• ' J Clause 4 of the deed dealt with the d1visj_on 

of profit and loss among the appellant and the syndicat(:J. It 

provided that the appellant should make up half-yearly accounts 

showing the profit and loss of the conduct of the business. 

The clause enumerated the deductions which were to be made in 

order to ascertain net profits. The deductions include the 

rental which the appellant agreed to pay to the syndicate and 

interest at 5~% on all money 11 advanced or overdrawn by the 

Manufacturer' in the conduct of the said businessn. The elause 

provided hov1 the net profits were to be 11appliecn. They were 

to be applied to the payment of interest at 1 07; on all moneys 

advanced by the syndicate and S11ch interest was raade the first 

ch!1rge on the net profits. One-half of the balance of the net 

profits was to be applied to the syndicate and the other half 

to the appellant. If there was a loss, clause 4 provided that 

it was to be paid out of the moneys advanced by th(3 syndicate and 

1n the next place one-half by the syndicate and one-half by the 

tippellant. But clause 8 limited the amount of the syndicate 1 s 

contribvtions to meet a loss to the sum of £700, the amount of 

the capital which the appellant agreed by clause 2 to accept from 

the syndicate and to utilise in carrying on the business. This 

agreement about profits and losses deviates far from an agreement 

to share profits and make good all losses. In Hoss v. Parkyns 

(supl'a) Jessell 1vi.H. said - ttThere may be cases where upon a 

simple participation in profits there is a presumption not of 

law, but of fact, that there is a partnership, yet whether the 

relation of partnership does or does not exist must depend upon 

the whole contract between the parties,and that drcumstance is 

not I 



not conclusive. See also .Poolev v. Driver, 5 Ch.D .. at p. 479. 

Lindley I, • .J. said in Walker v. Hirsch, 27 Ch.D. at p. 472 - 11 It 

is not to be decided for or against the appe11arJ.t merely by 

saying that there is in this clocurnent a clause which gives him 

a right to share in the profits and losses,therefore he is a 

partner and has all rlghts of a partner so far as the contract 

has not excluded those rights. This is a method of dealing with 

the case Which appears to me to be erroneous. The question is 

v:hat is the truH constructlon of the document and the rights of 

the parties arising from it". See also, per Cotton L.J. at p. 4'72. 

In my·· opinion this agrel::1ment about profits and losses cannot 

sUpport a presumption of intention to create a partnership strong 

enough to prevail. over the terms and conditions of the deed which 

shows that; the parties regarded the appeJ lant as the owner of the 

business. The result is that the profits of the business accrued 

to the appellant but he was bound to apply them in accordance 

with the deed and any loss< was to be borne by the appellant, 

except that he could appropriate the advance made by the syndicate 

to the payment of losses in the conduct of the business up to the 

amount of £700: this was the limit of their liability for losses. 

Clause 5 of the deed, having said that the appellant should be 

11 abso1utely untramme1led 11 in conducting the business, went on to 

say that he was 11 express1y empowered 11 to sell the products of the 

business to any business of which he was to be proprietor, and 

that 11in every r·espect 11 he should be at libert;y· to conduct the 

business to which the deed applied "as if it were his own sole 

bustness 11 , subject to a proviso designed to keep up the price 

level of the products of the. business, the reason for this being, 

no doubt, that the deed provided for the application of the net 

profits to the payment of interest due to the syndicate, and if 

there was a balance, half of such balance to the syndicate. 

The power which the clause Said was nexpressly 11 given would have 

been implied .from the fact that the appellant was t.he owner 

of the bus:i.ness. The hypothesis 11as if it were his own sole 

business" avoided any restriction by imp1ica t1on on the appeiiant r s 

rights 



expressly introduced one restriction only. 

adoption of this hypotQ.esis, is a slender foundation for a 

partnership or any fiduciaryrelationship. The syndicate had, 

in a s'ense, a common interest j,n the business under the terms 

and conditions of the deed and the hypothesis was adopted, no 

doubt, in view of such interest. But tr.te nature of their 

interest is a question that must be decided from all the 

provisions of the deed. 

Clause 7 says that the manufacturer, the appt:lllant, 
. . 

undertook that 11 he 11 would not~qispose of the good-will of the 

business without the consent of the syndicate and that 11 hett 

further undertook that if hE;! sold the good-will with their consent 

.any profit would be brought into account as profit arising from 

the conduct of the business and the net profit should be shared 

'equally between the appellant ;on the one hand and the syndicate 

. on the other hand • This clause clearly implies that the appellant 

. bwp.er of the business~; · .. Clause 12 contains a covenant on the 

.• part .• of the syndicate that they would not enter into competition 

11vvith the said business of the. mahufacturer 11 • The appellant . . 

did not covenant that he would not enter into competition With 

the business which he agreed t~earry on. If the intention of the 
·.· ·, 

deed was that he.should bE) the:owne:r of that business it is easy 

tounderstand the presence ~f 1he syndicate's covenant not to 
. . . 

compete, and the abse:nce of any promise by the appella."lt not to 

compete. 
. . . 

In my opinion it was l).o:t within the scope and intention 

of this deed that the appel~an~ .~J1d the members of the syndicate 

would carry on the business !!it :Finnie in partne1·ship. 
. . ' .·. ' 

For the abo\Te reasops I thin.."!{ that the part of the 

judgment of the Supreme Cour1 ~ealing with the prof:tts which the 
.... .. . 

appellant made from the busit-ies:s of meat packing carried on 

elsewhere than at :Fi.hriie. sl';toul.di be entirely set aside<> .. 
~ . . . 

Regarding the reit ot the case .. it does not .seem 

:necessary to add anything. 

In I 
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